IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2009-CA-00292

3545 MITCHELL ROAD, LLC d/b/a TUPELO TRACE APARTMENTS and PINECREST/TUPELO, L.P. d/b/a TUPELO SENIORS APARTMENTS

APPELLANTS

V.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF LEE COUNTY, MS and MARK WEATHERS, LEE COUNTY TAX ASSESSOR

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

James L. Martin P.O. Box 2703 Madison, MS 39130 601-991-3301 MS Bar No.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-00292

3545 MITCHELL ROAD, LLC d/b/a TUPELO TRACE APARTMENTS and PINECREST/TUPELO, L.P. d/b/a TUPELO SENIORS APARTMENTS

APPELLANTS

V.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Lee County Board of Supervisors properly changed the 2007 assessments for Appellants' property pursuant to §27-35-147(4) Miss. Code Ann.
- 2. Whether the valuation methodology specified in §27-35-50(4) Miss. Code Ann. is an exemption.
- 3. Whether subject properties were incorrectly classified on the 2007 assessment roll as contemplated by §27-35-143(11) Miss. Code Ann.
- 4. Whether the Assessor and Board of Supervisors followed applicable law in reassessing subject properties after the 2007 assessment roll was finalized.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

These cases involve two (2) multi-unit apartment complexes situated in Lee County, Mississippi, and the proper determination of true value of each of the complexes on which the ad valorem taxes for the year 2007 were assessed by the Lee County Board of Supervisors. These cases originated with appeals to the Lee County Circuit Court from the August 22, 2008 order of the Lee County Board of Supervisors denying Appellants' requests for reduction in taxes pursuant to *§11-51-77 Miss. Code Ann.* (R. Vol. 1, pp. 2, 34). A trial was held on January 16, 2009 on the Stipulation of Facts which resulted in an Order dated February 4, 2009, affirming the actions of the Board of Supervisors. (R. Vol. pp. 17, 87; RE. p. 2). Appellants seek refund of overpayment of ad valorem taxes for 2007 in the sums of \$91,744.27 and \$9,669.23, respectively, resulting from the unlawful increase in true value by the Lee County Tax Assessor in violation of applicable law.(R. Vol. 1, p. 49, ¶19).

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant, 3545 Mitchell Road, LLC d/b/a Tupelo Trace Apartments, ("Tupelo Trace") owns and operates Tupelo Trace Apartments located in Tupelo, Lee County, Mississippi.

Appellant, Pinecrest/Tupelo, L.P., ("Pinecrest") owns and operates Tupelo Seniors Apartments also located in Tupelo, Lee County, Mississippi.(R. Vol. 1, p. 45, ¶1, 2).

Tupelo Trace and Tupelo Seniors are residential apartment complexes consisting of 200 and 40 units, respectively, which are "affordable rental housing" properties as that term is defined by §27-35-50(4)(d)(i) Miss. Code Ann. (R. Vol. 1, p. 46, ¶5).

As required by §27-35-81 Miss. Code Ann. the Assessor submitted the 2007 Land Roll to

the Board of Supervisors at its meeting held on July 3, 2007. (R. Vol. 1, p. 46, ¶6, p. 50). The Assessor recommended to the Board the true value of all real and personal property situated in Lee County, Mississippi for 2007. The 2007 Roll included, among other things, recommended true values for Tupelo Trace and Tupelo Seniors in the sums of \$2,862,210.00 and \$317,420.00, respectively. (R. Vol. 1, p. 47, ¶9, p. 60). The Board accepted and adopted the 2007 Land Roll as presented by the Assessor at its meeting held on August 13, 2007. (R. Vol. 1, p. 46, ¶8, p. 57).

On or about September 25, 2007, Tupelo Trace and Pinecrest, by and through their authorized representative, submitted a written request to the Assessor asking for confirmation of the 2007 true values assessed to Tupelo Trace and Pinecrest.(R. Vol. 1, p. 47, ¶10, p. 62).

In response to said request, the Assessor confirmed and represented to Tupelo and Pinecrest that their tax assessments for 2007 would be based on a true value assessment of \$2,862,210.00 and \$317,420.00, respectively. (R. Vol. 1, p. 47, ¶11, p. 63).

On or about November 8, 2007, the Assessor, without notice to Tupelo Trace or Pinecrest, changed the 2007 true value assessment for Tupelo Trace and Tupelo Seniors to \$8,896,620.00 and \$951,073.00, respectively. (R. Vol. 1, p. 47, ¶12).

The Assessor and Board's actions resulted in Tupelo Trace and Pinecrest being assessed \$135,304.25 and \$14,512.90, respectively, in taxes for 2007 which amounts were paid in protest on or about January 17, 2008. (R. Vol. 1, p. 48, ¶14). The true value assessments of Tupelo Trace and Tupelo Seniors approved and confirmed by the Board at its August 13, 2007 meeting would yield tax assessments for Tupelo Trace and Pinecrest in the amounts of \$43,529.98 and \$4,843.67. (R. Vol. 1, p. 48, ¶16). Accordingly, Tupelo Trace and Pinecrest overpaid their 2007 ad valorem tax assessment in the sums of \$91,774.27 and \$9,669.23, respectively. (R. Vol. 1, p. 49, ¶19).

On or about August 6, 2008 Appellants submitted a written objection to the Lee County Board of Supervisors objecting to the unlawful increase in true value of Appellants' properties. (R. Vol. 1, p. 48). The Board of Supervisors issued an Order dated August 22, 2008 denying the objections of Appellants. Thereafter, Appellants filed their Petitions For Appeal in the Circuit Court of Lee County, Mississippi on August 28, 2008. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 2, 34, 49).

The parties filed an agreed Stipulation of Facts with exhibits in the Court below on December 5, 2008. (R. Vol. 1, p. 45). By agreement of the parties these cases were tried on the Stipulation of Facts before the Honorable Jim S. Pounds, Circuit Judge on January 16, 2009. (R. Vol. 1, p. 87, R. Vol. 2, p. 2). On February 4, 2009, Judge Pounds entered an Order denying Appellants' appeals. (R. Vol. 1, p. 17; RE. p. 2).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

For the year 2007 the Assessor recommended to the Board of Supervisors true values of Tupelo Trace and Tupelo Seniors in the sums of \$2,862,210.00 and \$317,420.00, respectively. The Board adopted these values at its meeting in August, 2007 at which time the 2007 Land Roll became final.

Once the Land Roll becomes final the Assessor and/or the Board can change the assessments only upon certain specific circumstances enumerated in §§27-35-143, 145, 147 and 149 Miss. Code Ann. In November, 2007, the Assessor arbitrarily increased the true values of Tupelo Trace and Tupelo Seniors to \$8,896,620.00 and \$951,073.00, respectively, thus increasing by 300% the taxes paid by Tupelo Trace and Pinecrest for 2007.

Neither the Assessor nor the Board of Supervisors followed the law in increasing the assessments after they became final because there authority to make changes is governed by §§27-35-143, 145, 147 and 149 Miss. Code Ann. The trial court was manifestly in error in ruling

that the special methodology for valuing affordable rental housing is an exemption and thereby holding that Appellees properly reassessed subject properties under §27-35-147 (4) Miss. Code Ann. Accordingly, Appellants are entitled to a reduction in the 2007 Assessments and a refund of overpayment of taxes in the sums of \$91,774.27 and \$9,669.23, respectively.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW AND APPLICABLE LAW

Since there are no disputed facts in this case the standard of review for application of the law is de novo, and the scope of the review is plenary. *Mississippi State Tax Commission v.*Medical Devices, Inc., 624 So.2d 987 (Miss. 1993). As will be shown herein below the trial court erred in its interpretation and application of certain tax statutes to the undisputed facts.

There are four (4) questions which will determine the outcome of these appeals:

- a. Once a tax roll becomes final can the Assessor and Board of Supervisors increase the assessment of a particular parcel of property?
- b. If the answer is yes, what is the basis on which the Assessor and Board of Supervisors can exercise this authority?
- c. Is the valuation methodology for affordable housing set forth in §27-35-50 (d)(4)

 Miss. Code Ann. an exemption?
 - d. Were Tupelo Trace and Tupelo Seniors properly classified on the 2007 Land Roll?

Tupelo Trace and Pincrest acknowledge that the Assessor and the Board have the authority to change an assessment after it has become final. However, this authority is not without limitations. The Board's authority to assess property is derived from the laws of Mississippi. The statutes authorizing ad valorem tax assessment must be strictly followed. *Ops Atty Gen, 1993-35, p. 61.*

The Board's authority to change an assessment after it becomes final is governed by §§27-35-143, 145, 147 and 149 Miss. Code Ann. (R. Vol. 2, p. 26, lines 26, 27, p. 27. lines 1 - 3; R. Vol. 2, p. 26, lines 28-29, p. 27, lines1-3). Unless the Board's action is covered by one or more of the referenced sections, then the increase in Tupelo Trace and Pinecrest's assessments is unlawful and should be rescinded.

A close reading of referenced statutes clearly suggest only §27-35-147 Miss. Code Ann. is applicable to this case. §27-35-143 states upon application of an interested party or by the Assessor on behalf of the interested party the Board has the power to change, cancel or decrease an assessment after the assessment roll becomes final under fourteen (14) separately numbered circumstances and no other. (emphasis added). Perusal of the 14 circumstances suggest this statute is intended for taxpayers to obtain the removal or reduction of an improper assessment. The facts in the case sub judice do not fit any of the 14 circumstances.

§27-35-145 specifies the manner in which a person desiring a change provided by §27-35-143 must apply. §27-35-149 specifies the procedure the Board should follow once a change is made in accordance with §§27-35-143 and 145.

§27-35-147 specifies five (5) distinct circumstances under which the Board, upon its own motion or upon notice from the Assessor, can increase an assessment after the assessment roll is closed which are:

- When lands have been assessed and buildings and improvements thereon have been omitted from the roll.
- 2. When the value of lands, assessed according to the number of acres or as an entire tract, has increased because actually subdivided into lots or smaller tracts, on or before the preceding tax lien date.

- 3. When the value of the lands has been increased by reason of changes or improvements made in or on adjacent lands before the preceding tax lien date, and the lands have been assessed without taking into consideration the changed conditions.
- 4. When lands or improvements thereon have been listed as exempt from taxation, but were subject to assessment and taxation on the preceding tax lien date.
- 5. When the property is liable for a special district levy tax but has not been assessed for the benefit of such district."

Under the facts of this case §27-35-147 is the code section which is dispositive of this case. (R. Vol. 2, p. 30, lines 27-29, p. 31, line 1). Unless one of the circumstances enumerated in §27-35-147 Miss. Code Ann. is present in the case sub judice, the Board does not have the authority to increase the true value of subject properties. This argument is supported by Hancock v. Simmons, 86 Miss. 302, 38 So. 337 (1905).

In *Hancock* the Board of Supervisors increased the true value of Simmons' property because of a railroad which had been constructed not on, but in the vicinity of Simmons' property, after the acceptance and approval of the land roll. In ruling in favor of Simmons the Court held that

"After the land rolls thus prepared have been examined by the board of supervisors, the valuation of the property equalized, in the doing which the board "may increase or diminish the valuation of any property so that property of the same value shall be assessed for an equal sum, and the rolls approved as required by law, this assessment becomes, until the next general assessment of land,..., the fixed and determined valuation for purposes of taxation of the lands of the county. These assessments can only be changed for the causes and in the specified cases enumerated by Code 1892, §3799..." (Emphasis added) 86 Miss. p. 310.

In so holding the *Hancock* court stated that the enumerated causes are restrictions on the power of the board of supervisors, and no assessment of real estate after having once been duly and formally approved and adopted can be changed, unless the individual case clearly constitutes

one of the stated exceptions.

Code 1892, §3799 was codified in §27-35-147 Miss. Code Ann. The holding of Hancock is just as applicable today as it was in 1909. Re-enactment of a statue which has been judicially construed is an adoption of the construction, unless intention to the contrary appears. Hammer v. Yazoo Delta Lumber Co., 100 Miss. 349, 56 So. 466 (1911).

In consideration of the predecessor of §27-35-147 (1) this court previously held that when an assessment has in fact been made, although the assessment may be defective, such property cannot be said to have escaped taxation. *Adams v. Luce*, 87 Miss. 220, 39 So. 418 (1905).

The correctness *vel non* of the assessment of Tupelo Trace and Pinecrest was the duty of the Board to determine in July and August, 2007. It did in fact determine the value and assessment evidenced by its Order dated August 13, 2007. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 46, 57). Once that determination was made it became final and conclusive against the public and the property owners. Thus, the Assessor and Board were without authority to go back and increase the assessment. *Gully v. Mississippi Valley Co.*, 181 Miss. 669, 180 So. 745 (1938); *Robertson v. Bank of Yazoo City, et al.*, 123 Miss. 380, 85 So. 177 (1920); *Yazoo, etc., Investment Co. V. Suddoth*, 70 Miss. 416, 12 So. 246 (1892); *State v. Simmons*, 70 Miss. 485, 12 So. 477 (1892); *Adams v. Bank*, 108 Miss. 346, 66 So. 407 (1914); *Darnell v. Johnston*, 109 Miss. 570, 68 So. 780 (1915).

There is nothing in the record which indicates how the Assessor calculated the values which were applied to subject properties in the 2007 Land Roll. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 45-86). The trial court mistakenly held that "The properties...due to the Plaintiffs' failure to meet the requirement to retain the exemption, were properly reassessed by the board". (R. Vol. 1, p. 18; RE. p. 2).

What is shown by the record is that the Assessor increased the true values of both Tupelo

Trace and Tupelo Seniors 300% of the values contained in the 2007 Land Roll which was finalized and approved by the Board of Supervisors. (R. Vol. 1, p. 47). Once the Assessor realized Tuple Trace and Pinecrest had not submitted income information prior to April 1, 2007 the Assessor unilaterally changed the values and in turn the assessments after the 2007 Land Roll had become final. (R. Vol. 1, p. 47).

This is analogous to situations where after the assessments have become final the assessor attempts to increase the assessment because he determines he has under-assessed a certain parcel. This cannot be done. 1993 WL 669100 (Miss. A.G.).

None of these circumstances is present in the case sub judice. The Court must read §27-35-147 Miss. Code Ann. in conjunction with the legislative intent and must look to the statute as a whole to ensure its meaning is not taken out of context. This honorable Court must give this statute a practical application consistent with its wording. 32 Pit Bulldogs and Other Property and Wilson Dalton Watkins v. Prentiss County, et al., 808 So.2d 971 (Miss. 2002); Ladner v. Hancock County, 899 So.2d 899 (Miss. 2004). Further, if there is any doubt or ambiguity in the application of relevant statutes to the facts of this case, such doubt or ambiguity must be resolved in favor of Appellants. Blount v. Eco Res., Inc., 986 So.2d 1052 (Miss. 2008).

As hereinafter set out in detail it is the position of Appellant that the valuation methodology for affordable housing set forth in $\S 27-35-50$ (d)(4) Miss. Code Ann. is not an exemption. Accordingly, the Assessor and Board of Supervisors were without authority to reassess subject properties after the 2007 Land Roll was final.

ASSESSOR AND BOARD OF SUPERVISORS' ACTIONS VIOLATE APPLICABLE LAW AND VALUATION METHODOLOGY SET FORTH IN §27-35-50 (d)(4) IS NOT AN EXEMPTION

A major source of revenue to fund governmental operations in Mississippi has always

been ad valorem taxation of real and personal property. The Mississippi Constitution mandates that all property throughout the state, not exempt, shall be taxed equally and uniformly based on its assessed value. *Miss. Const. Art. 4, §112 Ann.* Assessed value is to be calculated as a percentage of true value according to class. All property subject to taxation is divided into five (5) classes:

Class I. Single-family, owner-occupied, residential real property, at ten percent (10%) of true value.

Class II. All other real property, except for real property included in Class I or IV, at fifteen percent (15%) of true value.

Class III. Personal property, except for motor vehicles and for personal property included in Class IV, at fifteen percent (15%) of true value.

Class IV. Public utility property, which is property owned or used by public service corporations required by general laws to be appraised and assessed by the state or the county, excluding railroad and airline property and motor vehicles, at thirty percent (30%) of true value.

Class V. Motor vehicles, at thirty percent (30%) of true value. *Miss. Const. Art. 4, §112 Ann.*

Tupelo Trace and Tupelo Seniors are both Class II properties. In accordance with the constitutional mandate Mark Withers, Lee County Tax Assessor is required to assess all lands in his county based on true value. §27-35-49 Miss. Code Ann.

§27-35-50 Miss. Code Ann. instructs the Assessor on the determination of true value. During the 2004 legislative session §27-35-50 was amended to include a specific methodology for determining true value of affordable rental housing. §27-35-50 (4)(d) Miss. Code Ann.

As required by §27-35-81 Miss. Code Ann. the Assessor submitted the 2007 Land Roll to the Board of Supervisors at its meeting held on July 3, 2007. The Assessor recommended to the Board the true value of all real and personal property situated in Lee County, Mississippi for 2007. The 2007 Land Roll included, among other things, recommended true values for Tupelo

Trace and Tupelo Seniors in the sums of \$2,862,210.00 and \$317,420.00, respectively, as evidenced by Resolution of the Board dated July 3, 2007. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 46, ¶6, p.50 - 53). Thereafter, the Board, as required by §27-35-83 Miss. Code Ann., closed the public hearing for objections to the 2007 Assessments at the Board's August 8, 2007 meeting as evidenced by Order of the Board dated August 8, 2007. (R. Vol. 1, p. 46, ¶7, pp.54 - 56).

The Board accepted and adopted the 2007 real and personal property tax assessment rolls at its meeting held on August 13, 2007. (R. Vol. 1, p. 46, ¶8, pp. 57 - 58).

The 2007 real property assessment roll accepted and adopted by the Board included the true value of Tupelo Trace in the sum of \$2,862,210.00 and the true value of Tupelo Seniors in the sum of \$317,420.00 as evidenced by the 2007 Land Roll. (R. Vol. 1, p.47, ¶9, pp. 60, 61).

On or about November 8, 2007, the Assessor, without notice to Tupelo Trace or Pinecrest, changed the 2007 true value assessment for Tupelo Trace and Pinecrest to \$8,896,620.00 and \$951,073.00, respectively. The Assessor's actions were taken after the 2007 Land Roll had become final and because the Assessor discovered that Tupelo Trace and Pinecrest had not submitted income information prior to April 1, 2007. (R. Vol. 1, p. 47, ¶12).

The Assessor and Board's actions resulted in Tupelo Trace and Pinecrest being assessed \$135,304.25 and \$14,512.90, respectively, in taxes for 2007 which amounts were paid in protest on or about January 17, 2008. (R. Vol. 1, p. 48, ¶14).

The true value assessments of Tupelo Trace and Tupelo Seniors approved and confirmed by the Board at its August 13, 2007 meeting would yield tax assessments for Tupelo Trace and Pinecrest in the amounts of \$43,529.98 and \$4,843.67, respectively. (R. Vol. 1, p. 48, ¶16).

The lower court held that "...the Lee County Board of Supervisors properly changed the assessments pursuant to Mississippi Code Section 27-35-147(4)" (R. Vol 1., p. 18; RE. p. 2). It

is clear that subsection (4) applies to situations where property has been shown as exempt on the land roll but was in fact subject to taxation.

The Court's finding is erroneously based on the theory that "the properties enjoyed an 'exemption' on the preceding tax lien date (2006) but, due to the Plaintiff's failure to meet the requirement to retain the exemption, were properly reassessed by the board." (R. Vol. 1, pp. 18; RE. p. 2).

With deference to the lower court the 2007 Land Roll clearly shows on the fourth line from the bottom that no exemption has been applied to subject properties. (R. Vo. 1, pp.47, 60, 61).

The court's holding appears to have been based on the false assumption that §27-35-50(4)(d) Miss. Code Ann. provides a lower tax rate to owners of affordable housing, and therefore, is an exemption. (R. Vol. 1, p. 111). Appellants agree that their properties are "affordable housing" as that term is defined in §27-35-50(4)(d)(i) Miss. Code Ann. (R. Vol. 1, p. 46, ¶5). However, Appellants disagree that the special methodology of establishing true value for affordable housing properties is tantamount to an exemption or that it provides a lower tax rate.

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