IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2009-CA-00292

**3545 MITCHELL ROAD, LLC
d/b/a TUPELO TRACE APARTMENTS
and PINECREST/TUPELO, L.P.
d/b/a TUPELO SENIORS APARTMENTS**

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS

V.

**BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
OF LEE COUNTY, MS
And MARK WEATHERS, LEE
COUNTY TAX ASSESSOR**

DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

**GARY L. CARNATHAN
MS BAR NO. [REDACTED]
CARNATHAN & MCAULEY
P.O. DRAWER 70
TUPELO, MS 38802-0070
662-842-3321**

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

referred to in the statute is the tax assessor's categorization of property for purposes of applying exemptions and differing valuation methods. Thus, when the properties in question were erroneously treated as affordable rental housing for valuation purposes, the properties were incorrectly classified, and the board of supervisors was permitted to correct the erroneous assessment that resulted from the improper classification.

Subsection (2) of section 27-35-143 permits an assessment to be corrected if it resulted from a clerical error in making the equalization of assessments. The tax assessor's overlooking of the plaintiffs' failure to submit the required income statements was such a clerical error. Therefore, board of supervisors had the authority to correct the assessments pursuant to subsection (2).

ARGUMENT

I. THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS HAD AUTHORITY TO CHANGE THE ASSESSMENT OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTIES PURSUANT TO SECTION 27-35-147(3) OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE, BECAUSE THE SPECIAL RULE FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF “AFFORDABLE RENTAL HOUSING” PROPERTY CONSTITUTES AN EXEMPTION WITHIN THE MEANING OF THAT SECTION.

The circuit court held that the special valuation approach for affordable rental housing property is a type of exemption, and thus section 27-35-147(3) of the Mississippi Code authorized the board of supervisors to correct the assessment that resulted when the tax assessor improperly treated the properties as qualifying for that special valuation approach. That conclusion of law is subject to *de novo* review.

Section 27-35-50 of the Mississippi Code mandates that, for most types of real property, the tax assessor must determine the true value of the property by using one or a combination of three approaches: the income capitalization approach, the cost approach, and the market data approach.² Miss. Code Ann § 27-35-50(2). Typically, the true value is not determined by one single approach; rather, the appraiser’s estimate should be “the product of a reconciliation of the indications yielded by the three approaches.” *Rebelwood, Ltd. v. Hinds County*, 544 So.2d 1356, 1360 (Miss. 1989). However, section 27-35-50 makes an exception for property used as “affordable rental housing;” such property must be appraised using only a specified income capitalization approach developed by the Mississippi State Tax Commission. Miss. Code Ann § 27-35-50(4)(d). That approach was designed to yield a lower value than the standard

² The Mississippi Supreme Court explained each of these approaches to valuation in *Rebelwood, Ltd. v. Hinds County*, 544 So.2d 1356, 1360-62 (Miss. 1989).

the ordinary valuation methodology. The plaintiffs' sole basis for challenging the ultimate assessment of their properties and the tax bill resulting from that assessment is their contention that the board of supervisors lacked the power to change the assessment of the properties. The plaintiffs contend that the only permissible reasons for increasing the assessment of property after the original assessment rolls have been approved are those expressly provided by statute and that none of those grounds are applicable here.

Section 27-35-147(3) provides that a board of supervisors may increase an assessment after an assessment roll has been adopted "[w]hen lands or improvements thereon have been listed as exempt from taxation, but were subject to assessment and taxation on the preceding tax lien date." Contrary to the plaintiffs' argument, that ground for increasing an assessment applies to this situation.

Most property is subject to valuation based on the use of the valuation approaches set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 27-35-50(2). Owners of affordable rental housing, on the other hand, are granted the privilege of having their property valued based on a more lenient valuation approach—a special income capitalization method that ignores the subsidy that the federal government gives to the property owner to make up for the below-market rents charged to the tenants as prescribed by federal law. Although the plaintiffs' brief suggests that this special approach is not necessarily more favorable to the taxpayer, that suggestion is plainly refuted by the difference in the valuations reached by the tax assessor in applying the two approaches in this case, as well as the fact, noted above, that the special approach precludes consideration of the federal subsidy received by the owner of such property, which would be taken into consideration under an ordinary income-capitalization valuation. This more favorable

approach.³ However, in order to receive that favorable tax treatment for a given year, the owner of affordable rental housing must, on or before April 1, provide the county tax assessor a statement of the net operating income for the previous year. *Id.* Otherwise, the assessor lacks the information necessary to assess the property with the more favorable approach, and must resort to assessing the property under the standard approach.

As noted above, the plaintiffs, the owners of properties being used as “affordable rental housing,” failed to submit the requisite statements of net operating income,⁴ but the tax assessor nevertheless erroneously classified the properties as affordable rental housing and valued the properties using the special income capitalization approach. (Stipulation of Facts ¶ 12, R. Vol. 1 p. 47.) After the board of supervisors had approved the assessment rolls, the tax assessor discovered the oversight, and the board changed the assessments of the properties to reflect the tax assessor’s application of the ordinary valuation approach. (*Id.* ¶¶ 12, 13, 15, 17, R. 47-49.)

The plaintiffs do not dispute that they were required to submit an income statement in order to be entitled to the benefit of the special income capitalization approach of section 27-35-50(4)(d) or that they failed to submit the required income statement. The record does not reflect that the plaintiffs, either before the board of supervisors or in the circuit court, challenged the *substantive* correctness of the true values for the properties determined by the tax assessor when he subsequently applied

³ For example, under the special approach mandated by section 27-35-50(4)(d), the federal subsidy received by the property owner, although it is income attributable to the property and normally would be considered in a valuation of the property, *Rebelwood, Ltd.*, 544 So. 2d at 1363, may not be considered by the tax assessor in as part of the income from the property.

⁴ The assertion in the plaintiffs’ brief that the reason the plaintiffs did not submit the requisite income statement is because “the valuation proposed by the Assessor for 2007 was acceptable to Plaintiffs” is not supported by the record; in any event, the reason is irrelevant.

tax treatment constitutes an exemption from the taxes that the property owner would have to pay if the property were not being used as affordable rental housing.

In construing a statute, a word or phrase is to be given its common and ordinary meaning. *Tower Loan v. Mississippi Tax Commission*, 662 So. 2d 1077, 1083 (Miss. 1995). "Exemption" is defined as the state of being free from an obligation or duty required of others. American Heritage Dictionary 474 (2d College Ed. 1985); Black's Law Dictionary 593 (7th ed. 1999). In *Clement v. Stone*, 15 So. 2d 517, 522 (Miss. 1943), the court defined a property tax exemption as a grant of immunity from tax upon property which persons generally are obligated to pay. An exemption may be complete, as in the case of property owned by charitable organizations, or partial, as in the case of property that is the owner's homestead.

In short, an exemption excludes all or a portion of the true value of property from the assessment of the tax. Property owners generally have to pay property taxes based on a true value calculated by a method that yields a higher value than the special income capitalization method applicable to affordable rental housing. Since owners of affordable rental housing are spared that obligation, they are the recipients of an exemption; in other words, their property is exempt from being taxed based on the standard method of valuation and from the higher tax that they would otherwise have to pay.

A more favorable tax treatment need not involve a total exclusion from taxation in order to be an "exemption." The favorable tax treatment given to homestead property is clearly an "exemption," even though it results in only a reduction in the tax due rather than a complete exclusion from taxation. See Miss. Code Ann. § 27-33-3. Also, the federal and state income taxation laws grant a taxpayer an "exemption" from taxation

for a portion of personal income depending on the number of dependents the taxpayer has.

Also, a preferential tax treatment need not be explicitly denominated by a statute as an “exemption” in order to be considered as one. For example, in *Tupelo Garment Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 173 So. 656, 660 (Miss. 1937), the court held that the provision of a deduction from gross income for ordinary and necessary business expenses so as to lower the amount of taxable income was an exemption and thus was subject to the rule that tax exemptions are strictly construed against the persons claiming them. Another example of the broad scope of the term “exemption” is *Riese-St. Gerard Housing Corp. v. City of Patterson*, 592 A.2d 270 (N. J. Super. App. Div. 1991), which involved a statutory provision that permitted non-profit housing projects to pay 15 per cent of gross rents rather than the normal property tax based on the value of the property. The court described this statutory scheme, which is analogous to the special valuation approach of section 27-35-50(4)(d), as an exemption. Similarly, in *1198 Butler Street Associates v. Board of Assessment Appeals*, 946 A.2d 1131 (Pa. 2008), the concurring justice stated that the statute in question, which precluded the tax assessor from including tax credits in the income stream used to determine value based on the income capitalization approach (which is similar to section 27-35-50(4)(d)’s preclusion of consideration of the federal subsidy), amounted to a partial tax exemption. *Id.* at 1143 (Pellegrini, J. concurring).

There is no question that Miss. Code Ann. § 27-35-50(4) provides immunity to the owners of affordable rental housing from an amount of tax that owners of identical property used for another purpose would be required to pay. There is no real dispute that absent the preferential valuation method prescribed by section 27-35-50(4) for

affordable rental housing property, the tax on such property would uniformly be substantially higher. Indeed, that is precisely the plaintiffs' complaint—their property was reassessed without using the preferential valuation method, resulting in a higher assessed valuation and a higher tax bill. Accordingly, the special valuation method meets the definition of an exemption.

The special valuation method for affordable rental housing is analogous to the homestead exemption. A taxpayer desiring initially to claim the homestead exemption must apply to the county tax assessor on the prescribed form on or before April 1, and where there has been a "change in the property description, ownership, use or occupancy" that does not disqualify the property from the exemption the owner is required to submit a new application by the April 1 deadline in order to continue to receive the exemption. Miss. Code Ann. § 27-33-31. Thus, for example, if property that received a homestead exemption the previous year has changed owners, and if the new owner fails to apply for the exemption in a timely manner, then the property no longer qualifies for the exemption. Similarly, an owner of affordable rental housing, in order to claim the beneficial valuation approach, must "apply" for the special treatment by submitting an income statement by April 1. Just as the homestead exemption is granted to encourage home ownership, the special valuation approach mandated by section 27-35-50(4) is designed to encourage the development of affordable rental housing by giving a tax benefit to such property that is not available to owners of other types of property, by excluding a portion of the normally determined true value from taxation, just as the homestead exemption does. Both the homestead exemption and the special valuation approach of section 27-35-50(4) reduce the value of the respective property that is subject to taxation. Whether the effect of reducing the assessed valuation of

property is achieved by specifying a simple monetary amount of exclusion (as with the homestead exemption), by applying a percentage (as with the exemption for newly acquired railroad property granted by Miss. Code Ann. § 27-31-37), or by applying a special appraisal approach (as in section 27-35-50(4)), the effect is the same. Each of those three approaches excludes a portion of the true value of property from the assessment of property tax. Since the effect is the same, the treatment under section 27-35-147 should be the same as well. It defies reason to say that a statutory scheme that reduces the taxable value of homestead property by \$7500 is an exemption, but a scheme that reduces the taxable value of affordable rental housing property by over \$905,000 (as with the Tupelo Trace property) is not an exemption simply because it is not explicitly labeled as such and employs a different formula to reach the result of reducing the taxable value.

If, in the case of homestead property, the tax assessor should fail to learn of a change in ownership of homestead property and should continue to list the property as exempt despite the failure of the new owner to apply for the exemption, it is clear that the assessor and board of supervisors would be entitled under section 27-35-147(3) to increase the tax assessment upon learning that the property was not eligible for the exemption. There is no logical or practical reason for treating the preferential valuation granted to affordable rental housing differently from the homestead exemption. Therefore, a mistake in applying the section 27-35-50(4)(d) special valuation to property that does not qualify is also subject to correction under section 27-35-147(3). Accordingly, the tax assessor and the board of supervisors acted properly when they increased the assessment of the subject properties upon discovering that the properties

had been treated as affordable rental housing despite the property owners' failure to submit income statements as required to qualify for that special treatment.

Since the special valuation rule of section 27-35-50(4) is an exemption, then the tax assessor's mistake in utilizing the special valuation approach with respect to the plaintiffs' property, when the plaintiffs had not met the prerequisites for the preferential treatment, was subject to correction under section 27-35-147(3), and the tax assessor and the board of supervisors were authorized by section 27-35-147(3) to increase the assessment of the subject properties upon discovering that the properties did not qualify for the special valuation approach. Therefore, the court should affirm the judgment of the circuit court upholding the decision of the board of supervisors to correct the assessment of the properties in question pursuant to section 27-35-147(3).

II. THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS HAD AUTHORITY TO CHANGE THE ASSESSMENT OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTIES PURSUANT TO SECTION 27-35-143 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE.

The trial court held in the alternative that the action of the board of supervisors in increasing the assessment for the subject properties was authorized under section 27-35-143 of the Mississippi Code, which provides for a board of supervisors to change the assessment of real property after approval of the assessment rolls in certain specified circumstances. Specifically, the trial court held that the increase in the assessment was permissible under subsection (11), which authorizes a change "[w]hen lands have been assessed and incorrectly classified." (R. E. 4; R. Vol. 1 p. 19.) This conclusion of law is subject to *de novo* review.

The plaintiffs do not argue in their brief that a board of supervisors cannot act under section 27-35-143(11) to increase the assessment of property, and thus have

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